MAR 08 2013

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

ALLEN TREVINO, Defendant-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

The Honorable Vic Vanderschoor, Judge

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

#### Suzanne Lee Elliott

Attorney for Appellant 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-0291



MAR 08 2013

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

ALLEN TREVINO, Defendant-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Trevino is not guilty of rape of a child in the first degree because the alleged victim was more than 12 years old at the time of the alleged crime.
- 2. Trevino's conviction for communicating with a minor for immoral purposes is barred by the statute of limitations.
- The trial court had no authority to impose an exceptional sentence.

## II. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Is this Court required to reverse Trevino's conviction on Count
   rape of a child in the first degree, because B.A. was over 12 years old
   when the offense was committed?
- 2. Is this Court required to reverse Trevino's conviction for communicating with a minor for immoral purposes because the charge was barred by the applicable statute of limitations?"
- 3.. Did the trial court lack the authority to impose an exceptional sentence for crimes committed between 2002 and 2004?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Allen Robert Trevino was charged with rape of a child in the first degree, child molestation in the first degree and communicating with a minor. All of the acts were alleged to have been committed against B.A. between January 2002 and December 13, 2004. CP 48-49. The State also alleged that "the defendant used his position of trust, confidence or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the current offense as provided in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(N)." CP 49. The first degree child rape and first degree child molestation counts were charged "in the alternative." 12/12/11 RP 3.

B.A. was born on December 13, 1991. 2 RP 104.<sup>1</sup> She turned 12 years old on December 13, 2003. She was, therefore, over 12 years old for the final year of the charging period.

B.A.'s grandmother, Lynnell Roberson, testified that in December 2010, she called the police about allegations that B.A. made to her. 2 RP 31.

B.A.'s mother, Ralaunda Ashenbrenner, testified that she and B.A. moved to Benton County and lived on Snow Street in mid-2002. 2 RP 47-

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 1 RP is the volume labeled December 12, 14, 15 and 16, 2011. 2 RP is the volume labeled December 13, 2011. 3 RP is the volume labeled March 2, 2012.

48. At that time she was dating Allen Trevino, who lived in Portland. 2 RP 49. At some point in 2003 Ralaunda and B.S. moved to Jadwin Street in Richland. 2 RP 50. During that time Trevino would visit from Portland during the week and stay with her in her residence. 2 RP 51. She said that Trevino had opportunities to be alone with her girls and that she trusted him. 2 RP 52, 79. The relationship became more serious and, eventually, she and her daughters moved to Portland to live with Trevino. 2 RP 52-54. The relationship did not work out and she and B.A. returned to Benton County. 2 RP 55-56.

B.A. testified that she and her mother and sisters moved to Richland "about the middle of fourth grade." 2 RP 105. Previously they lived in Oregon. She attended fifth grade in Richland. 2 RP 106. She attended 6<sup>th</sup> grade in Richland and the "first part of seventh grade." 2 RP 106. She attended the "second part" of seventh grade in Portland and then the family returned to Richland when she was in the 8<sup>th</sup> grade. 2 RP 108. B.A. said that she turned 12 in December of her 6<sup>th</sup> grade year. 2 RP 108.

She testified that when the family lived on Snow Street Trevino read her a story about incest between a brother and sister. 2 RP 112.

When she was in sixth grade the family lived on Jadwin Street. When she was living there Trevino inserted his finger into her vagina. 2 RP 116. She

could not say when precisely this happened but that it happened "at the beginning of sixth grade." 1 RP 114. On cross-examination, B.A. admitted that she could not really remember when these events happened but "I tried the best I could." 2 RP 133. In fact, it appears from her testimony that she was very unclear about when the incidents might have occurred. 2 RP 143-145.

On redirect B.A. said that her mom told her she was in the sixth grade in 2004-2005. And she said that she was very clear that she was in the sixth grade when it happened. 2 RP 154.

B.A. also testified that after the family moved to Portland in 2004,Trevino made her perform oral sex on him. 2 RP 124.

Trevino testified that he did have a relationship with B.A's mother. 2 RP 138. He stated that B.A. and her mother lived with him in Portland from 2003 to 2005. 2 RP 160, 168. He denied all of B.A.'s allegations. He stated that B.A. did not like him. 2 RP 165-66. He also testified that one of B.A.'s boyfriends stole his medical marijuana. 2 RP 172. He said that B.A. accused him of sexual assault after that incident. 2 RP 175.

In closing, the State argued that Trevino was guilty because

Trevino put his hands in B.A.'s vagina when she was in "fourth and fifth
grade" and "living at the Snow residence." 1 RP 70. The State argued that

B.A. knew the dates because she knew that she graduated from high

school in May, 2010. 1 RP 72. She knew that she graduated from high school when she was 18 and "that is how in the case all the dates come through." *Id.* The prosecutor said of her witnesses: "They don't remember the dates." *Id.* Thus, the prosecutor argued that Trevino read the incest story to B.A. when she was in fifth grade. 1 RP 74. The State said that Trevino put his fingers in B.A.'s vagina when she was in sixth grade and lived on Jadwin Street in Richland. 1 RP 98. The prosecutor stated: "The charging period ends when she turns 13." 1 RP 75, 98.

In her final statement in rebuttal the prosecutor said:

Don't forget that it's about a 12 year old little girl. It's about a 12 year old little girl that didn't have a sister to run to. It's about a 12 year old little girl that didn't have a grandma two doors down to run to. It's a case about a 12 year old girl that dealt with the cards that she was dealt. And she told. And that is what this case is about, a 12 year old little girl.

In closing the defense argued that there was no corroboration of the dates testified to by B.A. 1 RP 92. He pointed out that precise dates were important because the family moved back and forth across state lines.

The jury found Trevino guilty of first degree rape of a child and communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 202-03. The jury also found that Trevino had abused his position of trust as to B.A. CP

205. The judge subsequently imposed an exceptional sentence of 168 months in prison. 3 RP 11; CP 259-70.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. TREVINO IS NOT GUILTY OF EITHER FIRST DEGREE RAPE (OR THE ALTERNATIVE CHARGE OF FIRST DEGREE CHILD MOLESTATION) BECAUSE B.A. TURNED 12 ON DECEMBER 13, 2003

The State bears the burden of proving each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). A criminal defendant's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. Id.; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3; City of Seattle v. Slack, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989). On appellate review, evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560, reh'g denied, 444 U.S. 890, 100 S.Ct. 195, 62 L.Ed.2d 126 (1979); State v. Green, 91 Wn.2d 431, 588 P.2d 1370 (1979), superseded in part on recons. by State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

Both first degree rape and first degree child molestation require that the State prove that the victim was less than 12 years old when the crime was committed. *See* RCW 9A.44.073 and RCW 9A.44.083. The jury was properly instructed on this element for both of the alternative charges in this case. CP 178-79.

Trevino is not guilty of either alternative charge. The act relied upon by the State occurred when B.A. was at least 12 or perhaps 13. The State said that this was a case about a 12 year old girl in closing.

Moreover, the State's argument was based upon B.A.'s testimony that Trevino put his fingers in her vagina in the fall of 2004, when she was in 6<sup>th</sup> grade. She was 12 at that time.

The charges must be reversed for dismissal because our Supreme Court has indicated that the remedy of remand for resentencing on a lesser included offense generally is permissible only when the jury has been explicitly instructed on it. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 234. In that case, Green was convicted of aggravated murder for killing his eight year old victim in the course of either kidnapping or raping her. *State v. Green*, 91 Wn.2d at 433-35; *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 216. On reconsideration, our Supreme Court reversed the aggravated murder conviction due to insufficiency of the evidence of kidnapping and verdict form errors and remanded for a new trial on the charge of aggravated murder in the first

degree based on first degree rape or attempted rape. *Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 233. The State sought the imposition of the lesser included offense of first degree murder. *Id.* at 234. The court refused, stating:

we are persuaded that the statement by the Supreme Court in Green is correct and controlling: remand for resentencing on a lesser included offense is only permissible where the jury is explicitly instructed on the lesser included offense. For the jury to make a finding on a lesser included offense, the jury must have received an instruction as to that offense. *State v. Harris*, 121 Wash.2d 317, 320, 849 P.2d 1216 (1993) ("To find an accused guilty of a lesser included offense, the jury must, of course, be instructed on its elements.").

In the case at hand the jury was not instructed on the subject of a "lesser included offense". In general, a remand for simple resentencing on a "lesser included offense" is only permissible when the jury has been explicitly instructed thereon. Based upon the giving of such an instruction it has been held that the jury necessarily had to have disposed of the elements of the lesser included offense to have reached the verdict on the greater offense.

Id. (alteration in original). The court additionally clarified that,

[i]n addition, it is clear a case may be remanded for resentencing on a "lesser included offense" only if the record discloses that the trier of fact expressly found each of the elements of the lesser offense.

Id. at 234-35.

Just last year, in *In re Heidari*, 174 Wn.2d 288, 274 P.3d 366 (2012)<sup>2</sup>, the Supreme Court reaffirmed that the appellate court could not remand for resentencing on the lesser included offense of attempted child molestation, where the jury was not instructed on the attempt offense. In doing so the Court abrogated *State v. Gilbert*, 68 Wn. App. 379, 842 P.2d 1029 (1993); *State v. Gamble*, 118 Wn. App. 332, 72 P.3d 1139 (2003), *review granted in part*, 152 Wn.2d 1001, 101 P.3d 865 (2004), *affirmed in part*, 154 Wn.2d 457, 114 P.3d 646 (2005); and *State v. Brown*, 50 Wn. App. 873, 751 P.2d 331 (1988). The Court noted that the State can easily avoid the force of the rule by requesting a lesser included offense instruction at trial. *Id.* at 294. And the Court reasoned that jettisoning the rule would be harmful to defendants because where jurors are not asked to decide the defendant's guilt or innocence on a lesser included offense, the

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The Supreme Court was affirming the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals had stated:

We have not been asked to address whether he may be retried on the crime of attempt. But, we note that a reversal for insufficient evidence generally terminates jeopardy and prevents subsequent retrial. See *State v. Linton*, 156 Wash.2d 777, 784, 132 P.3d 127 (2006) ("Acquittal of an offense terminates jeopardy."); *State v. Wright*, 165 Wash.2d 783, 792, 203 P.3d 1027 (2009) ("A reversal for insufficient evidence is deemed equivalent to an acquittal, for double jeopardy purposes, because it means 'no rational factfinder could have voted to convict' on the evidence presented." (quoting *Tibbs v. Florida*, 457 U.S. 31, 40-41, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982)).

*In re Heidari*, 159 Wn. App. 601, 609, 248 P.3d 550, 554 (2011), *review granted*, 171 Wn.2d 1027, 257 P.3d 662 (2011) *and aff'd*, 174 Wn. 2d 288, 274 P.3d 366 (2012).

defendant is denied the opportunity of defending against such a charge and might forgo strategies, arguments, and the presentation of evidence relative to that charge. *Id*.

# B. THE CHARGE OF COMMUNICATING WITH A CHILD FOR IMMORAL PURPOSES WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

A criminal statute of limitations presents a jurisdictional bar to prosecution. It is not merely a limitation upon the remedy, but a limitation upon the power of the sovereign to act against the accused. *State v. N.S.*, 98 Wn. App. 910, 914-15, 991 P.2d 133 (2000) (footnote and internal quotation marks omitted). Because the criminal statute of limitations creates an absolute bar to prosecution, whether the State was barred by the statute of limitations from prosecuting a crime is an issue that may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Dash*, 163 Wn. App. 63, 67, 259 P.3d 319, 320-21 (2011); *State v. Novotny*, 76 Wn. App. 343, 345 n. 1, 884 P.2d 1336 (1994).

RCW 9.68A.090(1) provides that: "Except as provided in subsection (2) of this section, a person who communicates with a minor for immoral purposes, or a person who communicates with someone the person believes to be a minor for immoral purposes, is guilty of a gross misdemeanor." RCW 9A.04.080(i) provides that: "No gross misdemeanor may be prosecuted more than two years after its commission."

In this case, the State alleged that Trevino communicated with B.A. in 2002. 1 RP 2. The limitations period ran no later than December 13, 2004. The charge in this case was not brought until 2011. Thus, the conviction for this gross misdemeanor must be reversed.

C. THE TRIAL COURT HAD NO AUTHORITY TO IMPOSE AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE FOR A CRIME OCCURING BETWEEN 2002 AND 2004

This Court need not reach this issue if it reverses all three counts on the grounds set forth above.

In this case, the State alleged that Trevino's sentence should be enhanced pursuant to RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n). That statute, however, was not enacted until 2005, in response to the invalidation of the prior aggravated sentencing scheme in *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403, *reh'g denied*, 542 U.S. 961, 125 S.Ct. 21, 159 L.Ed.2d 851 (2004). The legislature responded by amending the SRA to provide for jury determinations of aggravating factors justifying exceptional sentences upward. Laws of 2005, ch. 68; 2005 Final Legislative Report, 59th Wash. Leg., at 289. The amendment had the following effect:

The list of aggravating factors used to justify an upward departure from the standard sentence range is made exclusive. The aggravating factors list is expanded to include current judicially recognized factors. Four aggravating factors, all based on questions of law, may be

used to impose a sentence above the standard range without findings of fact by a jury. The remaining twenty-five aggravating factors pose questions of fact that must be submitted to a jury.

2005 Final Legislative Report, at 289.

Because the sentencing scheme in place in 2002-2004 was unconstitutional, no aggravated sentence can be imposed. And the trial courts had no inherent authority to impanel a sentencing jury. *State v. Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d 118, 149-52, 110 P.3d 192 (2005), *abrogated on other grounds, Washington v. Recuenco*, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed.2d 466 (2006).

Moreover, the new sentencing scheme cannot be applied to Trevino in light of RCW 9.94A.345, which provides that:

Any sentence imposed under this chapter shall be determined in accordance with the law in effect when the current offense was committed.

It is true that the Legislature enacted a statute, commonly known as "the *Blakely* fix" in 2007. However, that statute provides that:

(2) In any case where an exceptional sentence above the standard range was imposed and where a new sentencing hearing is required, the superior court may impanel a jury to consider any alleged aggravating circumstances listed in RCW 9.94A.535(3), that were relied upon by the superior court in imposing the previous sentence, at the new sentencing hearing.

RCW 9.94A.537(2) (emphasis added). Thus, it is clear that the statute was intended to provide only for cases that were pending on appeal at the time

Blakely and its progeny were decided. It was not intended to apply to prosecutions, such as this one, that had not yet been commenced. Just this week, Division II concluded that this statute "applies only to resentencing hearings required because of a Blakely error but not sentencing following a new trial." State v. Douglas, -- Wn. App. --, -- P.2d --, Slip Opinion No. 41133-4-II at 7 (Feb. 26, 2013).

## CONCLUSION

All three counts in this case must be dismissed. In the alternative, the exceptional sentence must be stricken and the matter remanded for a standard range sentence.