FILED

MAY 30, 2013 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 307212-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

ALLEN ROBERT TREVINO, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR BENTON COUNTY

NO. 11-1-00126-5

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

ANITA I. PETRA, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney BAR NO. 32535 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-359l

I.	ISSUES PRESENTED				
	1.	WAS THE VICTIM 12 YEARS OF AGE AT THE TIME OF THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME?	1		
	2.	DID THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BAR PROSECUTION OF COUNT TWO, COMMUNICATION WITH A MINOR FOR IMMORAL PURPOSES?	1		
	3.	DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSE AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE?	1		
II.	STAT	STATEMENT OF THE CASE1			
III.	ARG	ARGUMENT3			
	1.	THE CRIME THE DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED OF OCCURRED WHEN THE VICTIM WAS 11 YEARS OLD.	3		
		A. The charging period is irrelevant in this analysis.	4		
		B. There is sufficient evidence to convict Mr. Trevino of the crime of Rape of a Child in the First Degree.	8		
	2.	THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS HAD NOT RAN.	.11		
	3.	THE DEFENDANT'S ARGUMENT RUN AGAINST WELL-SETTLED CASE LAW	.12		
TX 7	CON	CLUSION	14		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES

State v. Aho, 137 Wn.2d 736, 975 P.2d 512 (1999)4, 5
State v. Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d 703, 974 P.2d 832 (1999)
State v. Dye, 170 Wn. App. 340, 283 P.3d 1130 (2012)8
State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998)6, 7
State v. Parmlee, 172 Wn. App. 899, 292 P.3d 799 (2013)12, 13
State v. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d 459, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007)12, 13, 14
State v. Stubbs, 144 Wn. App. 644, 184 P.3d 660 (2008)10
WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT CASES
Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004)
WASHINGTON STATUTES
RCW 9.94A.34513
RCW 9.94A.53713
RCW 9.94A.54714
RCW 9A.04.080(1)(i)11
RCW 9A.04.080(2)11
RCW 9A.44.073(1)3
OTHER AUTHORITIES
2007 Wash. Legis. Serv. Ch. 205 (H.B. 2070)13

I. ISSUE PRESENTED

- 1. WAS THE VICTIM 12 YEARS OF AGE AT THE TIME OF THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME?
- 2. DID THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BAR PROSECUTION OF COUNT TWO, COMMUNICATION WITH A MINOR FOR IMMORAL PURPOSES?
- 3. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSE AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Allen Trevino was a resident of Portland, Oregon for the entire timeline of this case until his extradition to Washington State. (CP 55, 59). Other than a brief period in 2003, the defendant has never been a resident of Washington State. (CP 56).

In either 2001 or 2002, the defendant entered into an extended romantic relationship with Ralaunda Ashenbrenner. (CP 55-56). Ralaunda had three daughters. B.J.A. is Ralaunda's oldest daughter, and the victim in this case. (CP 55). The victim in this case has a birthdate of December 13, 1991. (CP 55; RP¹ 104). Ralaunda moved to Richland, Washington in February of 2002. (CP 55). Despite this, the defendant

¹ Unless dated, "RP" refers to the December 13, 2011, Verbatim Report of Proceedings.

and Ralaunda's romantic relationship continued. (CP 55). The defendant would visit Ralaunda in Richland. (CP 55). During one of these visits, the defendant read the victim a pornographic story about incest between a brother, sister, and their parents. (CP 55-56).

In September of 2003, when the victim was 11 years old, the defendant moved into Ralaunda's residence for a short-time period. (CP 56). At some point in time, identified as "the beginning of sixth grade," the defendant digitally penetrated the victim under the guise of giving her a massage. (RP 113-17). The victim was 11 years old at the start of Sixth Grade, and 12 years old at the end of the school year. (RP 10). The defendant later returned to Portland Oregon. In June of 2004, Ralaunda moved in with the defendant in Portland, Oregon. (RP 56).

The defendant sexually assaulted the victim multiple times while living with her. (RP 57). In the most concerning event, he forced her to perform oral sex on him, and then ejaculated in her mouth. (RP 57). Ralaunda later returned to Washington State. (RP 57).

On December 3, 2010, Mr. Trevino came to visit Ralaunda. (RP 58). Ralaunda's youngest daughter fled the residence, indicating that she is uncomfortable around Mr. Trevino. (RP 58). At the time, the youngest daughter was 12 years old, a little bit older then B.J.A. was when the defendant sexually assaulted her. (RP 58). B.J.A. elected to disclose the

abuse at that time, first to her boyfriend, then her grandmother, and finally her mother. (RP 58). Ralaunda went to confront the defendant, who fled the area. (RP 58). The Police were contacted, and statements taken. (RP 58). The State elected to charge the defendant, eventually charging him with two counts: Communication with a Minor for Immoral Purposes, and Rape of a Child in the first degree. (CP 48-49).

Mr. Trevino proceeded to trial, and was convicted on both counts, as well as on an aggravating factor that he used his position of trust to facilitate the criminal act. (CP 253). The court imposed an exceptional sentence upward, and sentenced the defendant to 168 Months on Count 1, Rape of a Child in the First Degree. (CP 253-54). His sentence was 21 months above the standard range, which was 111-147 months. (CP 254). The defendant now timely appeals the ruling, alleging three errors.

III. ARGUMENT

1. THE CRIME THE DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED OF OCCURRED WHEN THE VICTIM WAS 11 YEARS OLD.

RCW 9A.44.073(1) reads:

A person is guilty of rape of a child in the first degree when the person has sexual intercourse with another who is less than twelve years old and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least twenty-four months older than the victim. The State needed to prove each element of Rape of a Child in the First Degree beyond a reasonable doubt. The defense has alleged that there was insufficient evidence to show that the victim in the case was under the age of 12 when the crime occurred. (App. brief at 6). In arguing the sufficiency question, the defense in fact appears to address two real concerns, only one of which is a real sufficiency challenge. There is the question if the jury instructions accurately informed the jury of the elements of the crime of Rape of a Child in the First Degree, and there is the question if the evidence is sufficient to support a conviction of such.

A. The charging period is irrelevant in this analysis.

The defendant makes repeated references to the fact that the charging period includes a portion of time when the victim was 12. (App. brief at 7). The State does not dispute that fact. However, it is entirely irrelevant for the purposes of the sufficiency challenge. The question before the Court is whether the to-convict instruction actually instructed the jury as to the requisite elements, or if the time period, which included some time in which the victim was over the age of 12, instructed the jury wrongly. The natural analogy here is *State v. Aho*, 137 Wn.2d 736, 741, 975 P.2d 512 (1999). *Aho* involves a defendant convicted of Child Molestation in the First Degree. *Id.* However, the charging period in *Aho*

incorporated a time period prior to the enactment of the child molestations statute. *Id.* In both cases, the key question is, did the jury find the defendant guilty based upon acts that could not be punished by the statute the prosecution proceeded under? *Id.* In *Aho*, nothing indicated that the court could. The jury was not instructed that any acts prior to July 1, 1988, could not be the basis of a conviction for child molestation. The Jury was instructed:

[T]o convict Aho on any of the child molestation counts, the State had to prove that he had sexual contact with the victim during a stated time period beginning January 1, 1987, that the victim was under age 12, and that Aho was at least 36 months older than the victim.

Id. at 739.

However, the statutes which Aho was charged under did not take effect until July 1, 1988. *Id.* at 741. As a result, the jury was unaware that any incidents that they found committed between January 1, 1987, and July 1, 1988, could not be the basis of their decision. *Id.* With the instructions as they were, there was no way to be sure that the jury had not found Aho guilty based upon acts which could not be charged that way. *Id.* at 744.

This case stands directly opposite from that. Instruction 10, which defined Rape of a Child in the First Degree, informed the jury that the defendant could only be guilty of Rape of a Child in the First Degree if the

victim was under the age of 12. (CP 179). Instruction 16, the to-convict instruction, provided four elements the state must prove before the jury could convict the defendant of Rape of a Child in the first Degree.

- (1) The during the time intervening between January 1, 2002, and the 12th day of December 2004, the defendant had sexual intercourse with [B.J.A.];
- (2) That [B.J.A.] was less than 12 years old at the time of the sexual intercourse and was not married to the defendant;
- (3) That [B.J.A.] was at least twenty-four months younger then the defendant; and
- (4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington(CP 185).

As a result, in order to convict Mr. Trevino of Rape of a Child in the First Degree, the jury was instructed that it must have occurred within the time period of January 1, 2002, and December 12, 2004, and that it happened when the victim was under the age of 12. The only misinformation given to the jury was that of an additional element of the crime, the time period cited. By adding that wording to the "to-convict" instruction, the State forfeited any opportunity to have the jury find Mr. Trevino guilty, based upon events prior to January 1, 2002. *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). However, as long as the instructions advise the jury of all statutorily required elements, and the

State proved the additional elements included in the "to-convict" instruction beyond a reasonable doubt, there is no constitutional error. *Id*.

The defendant highlights certain comments made by the State during closing argument. However, in doing so, they take the comments out of context. The defendant states in his brief, "the State argued that Trevino was guilty because Trevino put his hands in B.A.'s vagina when she was in 'fourth or fifth grade' and 'living at the snow residence."" (App. brief at 4). That is not at all what was argued by the State. The rape of a child allegation centered around conduct that occurred in 2003, when the victim was 11 years old and living at their home on Jadwin, which the State made clear. (RP 71). The passage the defendant cites to refers to the conduct that was the basis of the communication with a minor for immoral purposes allegation. The statement "the charging period ends when she turns 13" was directly followed by arguments showing that the victim was 11 when the event charged occurred, and showing how the jury could be sure of that. (RP 12/15/11, 98-99). Finally, the defendant cites a large portion of text, discussing B.J.A. at age 12. Those arguments related to B.J.A. when she was 12. It was an explanation offered to the jury of B.J.A.'s failure to disclose the abuse for so long, not a request to punish Mr. Trevino for actions that occurred when the victim was 12.

Here, the defendant was found guilty of having sexual intercourse with B.J.A between January 1, 2002, and December 12, 2004, when B.J.A was less than 12 years old. That is sufficient to do away with any worries about the charging period. "Juries are presumed to follow the court's instructions absent evidence to the contrary." *State v. Dye*, 170 Wn. App. 340, 348, 283 P.3d 1130 (2012).

B. There is sufficient evidence to convict Mr. Trevino of the crime of Rape of a Child in the First Degree.

The defendant also appears to assert that the State did not prove that B.J.A. was under the age of 12 during the case. This is contradicted clearly by the testimony given by the State's witnesses. Counsel for the State very clearly set up a time scale for the victim, using her grade in school as point of reference, to avoid the victim becoming confused. (RP 107-09). Testimony on direct clearly established that B.J.A. was in the sixth grade during the 2003-2004 school year. (RP 107-09). B.J.A. started the school year at age 11, and turned 12 during it. The testimony clearly showed that the defendant digitally penetrated B.J.A. before she turned 12. (RP 113). B.J.A. was unable to recall the date exactly, but did recall it was at some point in fall, due to the leaves on the trees being orange. (RP 114).

The defendant asserts that the fall B.J.A. spoke of was the fall of 2004. (App. brief at 7). However, that is not held up by the testimony. B.J.A. was set to graduate in 2010 at the age of 18. (RP 107). As such, B.J.A. would have been in the 12th grade during 2009-2010, and age 17 when she began the school year, and age 18 at the end of the school year as the following chart shows:

SCHOOL YEAR	<u>GRADE</u>	B.J.A.'s AGE
2009-2010	Grade 12	17 turning 18 by end of school year.
2008-2009	Grade 11	16 turning 17 by end of school year.
2007-2008	Grade 10	15 turning 16 by end of school year.
2006-2007	Grade 9	14 turning 15 by end of school year.
2005-2006	Grade 8	13 turning 14 by end of school year.
2004-2005	Grade 7	12 turning 13 by end of school year.
2003-2004	Grade 6	11 turning 12 by end of school year.
2002-2003	Grade 5	10 turning 11 by end of school year.
2001-2002	Grade 4	9 turning 10 by end of school year.

The testimony elicited by the prosecution clearly shows that the fall of B.J.A.'s 6th grade school year was the fall of 2003, when B.J.A. was 11 years old.

The defense did show that B.J.A. had earlier given a statement to an officer that her sixth-grade year was in 2004-2005. (RP 143).

However, B.J.A. immediately clarified that statement, indicating that it had been a mistake. B.J.A stated, "I wasn't sure when I was in sixth grade," at the time of the interview with Detective Jansens. (RP 143). Redirect further clarified that the dates of 2004-2005 came from B.J.A's mother, not from the victim. (RP 154).

The timeline the defendant argues for is impossible. B.J.A. testified that they moved to Portland to live with the defendant prior to the beginning of the school year in 2004. (RP 124). As a result, Mr. Trevino could not have sexually assaulted B.J.A. on that date in the residence on Jadwin, because neither the victim, the victim's mother, or the defendant was at that residence in 2004. Ralunda, the victim's mother, testified that they moved into the Jadwin residence in 2003. (RP 50). B.J.A. was absolutely clear that the abuse occurred in the Jadwin residence. (RP 113).

In essence, the defendant's arguments are an attack upon the credibility of the testimony that B.J.A. gave, that the assault occurred in the fall of 2003. However, what weight to give to inconsistent testimony is a question left to the finder of fact. *State v. Stubbs*, 144 Wn. App. 644, 652, 184 P.3d 660 (2008) *reversed on other grounds* 170 Wn.2d 117, 240 P.3d 143 (2010). "An essential function of the fact finder is to discount theories which it determines unreasonable because the finder of fact is the

sole and exclusive judge of the evidence, the weight to be given thereto, and the credibility of witnesses." *State v. Bencivenga*, 137 Wn.2d 703, 709, 974 P.2d 832 (1999). The State will not address the other case law cited on this issue, as it discusses attempts to seek lesser included offenses. The State has no interest in seeking such. The defendant raped B.J.A. when she was 11 years old, as clearly found by the finder of fact. The fact that earlier confused statements gave a different date is in no way sufficient to overturn that finding.

2. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS HAD NOT RAN.

The defendant is entirely correct in all the case law he cites, and the arguments he makes regarding the statute of limitations. However, he fails to recognize the significance of the statutes he provides. He incorrectly cites the locations of the statute of limitations: "(i) No gross misdemeanor may be prosecuted more than two years after its commission." (App. brief at 10). RCW 9A.04.080(1)(i). This incorrect citation is important, because of the section immediately after the quoted portion. Section two reads, "(2) The periods of limitation prescribed in subsection (1) of this section do not run during any time when the person charged is not usually and publicly resident within this state." RCW 9A.04.080(2). All the portions of section (1), including the gross misdemeanor statute of limitation, are suspended whenever the defendant

is not a resident of the State of Washington. (CP 56). As a result, Mr. Trevino's crime was not barred for prosecution.

3. THE DEFENDANT'S ARGUMENT RUN AGAINST WELL-SETTLED CASE LAW.

The defendant contends that *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 2533, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004) declared the previous exceptional sentence system unconstitutional, and that, as a result, all crimes that occurred prior to *Blakely* cannot not be enhanced via exceptional sentences. (App. brief at 11). The exact arguments the defendant makes were analyzed, and dismissed by the Supreme Court of Washington in *State v. Pillatos*, 159 Wn.2d 459, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007) and *State v. Parmlee*, 172 Wn. App. 899, 292 P.3d 799 (2013).

We note that the argument that an unconstitutional statute does not, in some sense, exist, and therefore cannot justify punishment before the legislature remedies the constitutional flaw, has been raised and rejected many times in many courts

Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d at 476.

One of his primary arguments is that the 2007 *Blakely* fix only applied to cases in progress when *Blakely* was decided; however, the *Blakely* fix is not relevant. The ordinary procedures for an exceptional sentence apply in this case, as they were drafted in 2005 in response to

Blakely. The alterations to RCW 9.94A.537 were retroactive, as they are considered remedial. *Parmlee*, 172 Wn. App. at 916

The court followed the statutory procedures, which have been ruled to be retroactive, without violation of the ex post facto rule. The Blakely fix in 2007 was a reaction to State v. Pillatos, which ruled that the 2005 amendments only applied to new trials. 2007 Wash. Legis. Serv. Ch. The defendant properly received an exceptional 205 (H.B. 2070). sentence, based upon the jury's findings. Blakely did not deprive the State of the power to assign exceptional sentences to individuals who have committed horrific crimes which the standard range does not adequately It simply ensured that if a sentence was enhanced, it was enhanced by the finder of fact that the defendant was entitled to. The defendant had all that the constitution requires. "But as we have said when considering other amendments to the SRA, the key is whether the defendant had notice of the punishment at the time of the crime, not whether in some metaphysical sense, a constitutional statute existed at the time of the crime." State v. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d at 475.

The argument that RCW 9.94A.345 bars retroactivity in this respect was specifically addressed and denied.

In this case, both past and present law allows for exceptional sentencing. The 'law in effect when the current

offense was committed,' reasonably read, includes the possibility of exceptional sentences, and the change in procedures does not violate the letter or purpose of RCW 9.94A.345."

Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d at 473.

The amendments in 2005 and 2007 to RCW 9.94A.547 were remedial fixes, and may be applied retroactively. It was applied as such here.

IV. CONCLUSION

The defendant has failed to identify any real issues. The jury found that B.J.A. was under the age of 12, and their judgment as to the credibility of any proposed inconsistencies cannot be disturbed. The statute of limitations does not apply, as the statute tolled for as long as Mr. Trevino was not a resident of Washington State. The court had the power to give the defendant an exceptional sentence. In light of these facts, the State requests that this Court affirm the lower court's ruling.